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Praise for The Letters of Private Wheeler


‘They are simply marvellous. Wheeler was a naïve writer of real power – a natural story-teller, a provider of portraits, someone whose gift was to bring everything he wrote about to life’
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‘In a later age he would have become a successful war correspondent … We have no more human account of the Peninsular War from a participant in all its battles. Vivid images – of people, landscapes, events – flow from his pen … One of military history’s great originals’


John Keegan, Daily Telegraph


‘These letters have already become a minor classic … deftly edited, they are clear and telling in the accounts they give of a soldier’s day-to-day life, a mixture of danger, boredom, discomfort and occasional delight’


Good Book Guide











THE LETTERS OF
PRIVATE WHEELER


An Eyewitness in Action at the
Battle of Waterloo


1809–1828


Edited and with a foreword by


CAPTAIN B. H. LIDDELL HART


[image: image]












[image: image]









Foreword
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MOST of the eye-witness accounts of the ‘Great War’ against Napoleon were written long after the events they describe. Although quite a number were by men who served in the ranks, or were compiled from their tales, the more interesting and valuable narratives came mainly from officers. The famous Recollections of Rifleman Harris are an exception—but his story was recorded many years later by a half-pay officer turned journalist who discovered him, recognized the interest of his reminiscences, and set them down in a somewhat polished-up style. They covered only the opening phase of the Peninsular War—the ill-fated Corunna campaign—and the abortive Walcheren expedition.


A greater discovery has come more than a century later in the letters of Private William Wheeler of the 51st—now the 1st Battalion, King’s Own Yorkshire Light Infantry. They start with the Walcheren expedition, cover the main part of the Peninsular War, and then give his impressions of the Waterloo campaign. I know of no contemporary story by a fighting soldier that equals this in atmosphere and interest. The later letters vividly depict the conditions of overseas garrison service after the ‘Great War,’ and provide some sidelights on the Greek War of Independence.


While on garrison duty in Corfu, Wheeler also set down his recollections of the war in a short narrative of some 14,000 words. A number of his comrades who read the manuscript ‘wished for a copy,’ and to meet their request he was induced to get it set up in type in 1824, at the Government Printing Office at Corfu, so that it could be available to subscribers. Scarcely any copies of this ‘Journal’ have survived, but one was in Sir Charles Oman’s library, and he lent it to Colonel H. C. Wylly who compiled the history of the K.O.Y.L.I. from 1755 to 1924. From comparison with the letters, it is evident that this journal must have been ‘polished,’ by the printers or someone else. In the process it lost more than it gained, for Wheeler’s natural style of writing, though cruder, is more forceful and colourful.


After Wheeler, now a sergeant, was invalided from the service on pension—in 1828, at the age of forty-three—he lived in the memories of his soldiering days. Finding, he says, that his letters had been carefully preserved by his family, he devoted his time to making a fair copy of them in a leather-bound volume. He incorporated a number of notes that he had made at different times, and may also have omitted some anecdotes—for those that appeared in the ‘Journal’ printed at Corfu are rarely repeated, even in different words, in the volume of ‘Letters.’ The volume was kept in the family and came down to his great-grand-daughter and her husband, Mr. Ellis. Then in 1948 a visitor to their house saw it and suggested that it should be published.


It was sent to the Editor of The Strand, Mr. Macdonald Hastings. His secretary, Miss Angela Mack, has a keen interest in the Waterloo period, and was thus moved to read the dim and spidery handwriting—which had deterred those who usually ‘vetted’ MSS. from tackling the volume during the weeks since its arrival. She typed out Wheeler’s description of Waterloo, at first for her own edification—and the importance of the find was at once realized. Three extracts were published in 1949—the Editor managing to squeeze them into the last few issues of The Strand before that magazine’s long life was ended (through a decision already taken). The publication of these few extracts attracted wide interest, and was a fitting climax for a magazine that had made several great literary finds in the past.


‘The Letters of Private Wheeler’ are a unique find. They provide a living picture of war in the days of the ‘thin red line’ as seen through the eyes of the man in the ranks, and at the time he saw it—instead of through the haze of distant recollection. Wheeler’s letters were mostly written hard on the heels of the events he describes, and often before the battlefield had been cleared. When he wrote home after the battle of Waterloo, he began: ‘The three days’ fight is over’—and could not tell what name Wellington, and history, would give to the battle. Naturally, his details are not always accurate, but his impressions usually are—and can be gauged from other records where they exist. He puts a distinctive stamp on them. He had little education beyond a grounding in ‘the three Rs,’ but he had a remarkable narrative gift—as often happened in those days among men of his kind. A good story-teller who could relate experiences vividly got plenty of encouragement in an age when many people of his class could not read and the cinematograph was not invented. It is to be noted, however, that Wheeler himself had a considerable acquaintance with books.


The scarcity of his formal education had compensating advantages. There is no seeking for style, nor cramping by grammatical convention, in his writing—his way of writing is akin to lively talking. His reflections, or asides, are free from the conventional moralizing then fashionable in writing. If he makes a moral comment it is genuinely felt. His pen portraits of comrades and officers bring them to life. In character-sketching he is both shrewd and sympathetic.


By his descriptive gifts he gives the reader a vivid picture of warfare as it was waged in the Napoleonic era, and of the countries in which Wellington’s army fought. He has a remarkably observant mind, and a pleasant vein of humour. He depicts both the bright and the dark side of the picture. His letters make us realize more what it meant to fall sick or be wounded in those days, when medical services were primitive and surgery was done without anaesthetics. He shows us the harshness of the discipline, the brutal floggings and drastic executions, but also its astonishing unevenness—according to whether the officers in command were tyrannical, fatherly, or eccentric. But, on balance, his testimony is favourable. He comes to love the army, and helps the reader to understand how such an attachment develops. Deeper still is his feeling for, and pride in, his regiment. Nothing is stronger than such a bond, and nothing can sever it. When asked to edit Wheeler’s letters, my own response was the more ready because I served in the same regiment as he did, and left it not only from similar causes but with equal regret.


In the editorial task, I have provided a number of ‘background’ notes, and have also, for easier reading, done some paragraphing and punctuation of his letters. For they were punctuated only by commas. But I have not changed his spelling, save where it is an obvious slip of the pen. On principle, any alteration in the reproduction of the historical document should be eschewed, and Wheeler’s misspellings are usually intelligible, while adding flavour to his story.


I would like to thank General Sir Charles Deedes, the Colonel of the Regiment from 1927 to 1947, and Mr. A. S. White, the Librarian of the War Office, for helpful guidance and suggestions; also Mr. David Callaby, for his aid in looking up references and compiling notes.


B. H. LIDDELL HART









Preface by the author
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As these letters may fall into many hands who will form many different opinions respecting their origin, I have only to say, that on my return home I found the whole of my letters carefully preserved. From these letters, and from hasty notes made at different times, I have endeavoured to give a faithful and impartial record of the services of the Regiment during my time, in which I spent so many happy years. The Anecdotes are all original, none ever having appeared in print. Such is their simple history.


If it should meet the eye of any veteran who served his country during the eventful period here recorded, I hope it will prove a source of pleasure in recalling to his recollection many glorious achievements time have obliterated from his memory.


BATH,


W. WHEELER


26th February, 1837.
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THE OPENING PAGE OF PRIVATE WHEELER’S MANUSCRIPT









The
Letters of Private Wheeler
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[The first page of Wheeler’s first letter is lost to us. This is unfortunate—not least because it may have shed light on the circumstances of his enlistment. But the militia unit in which he served was evidently the 2nd Royal Surrey Militia. (This can be deduced from the names of the officers mentioned.)


As Oman emphasized in his classic Wellington’s Army, volunteers from the militia formed the best element in that army. Many of them volunteered to join the Regular Army not only from a desire for more adventurous service, but from a sense of consciousness that their country was threatened by foreign despotism. That brought a better type of man into the ranks than at other times and in normal conditions.


By ‘Rumley Marsh’ Wheeler presumably means Romney Marshes which stretch for 17 miles from Hythe in Kent as far as Rye in Sussex. They lie below sea-level and were reclaimed by the Romans, who built walls to keep the sea back. It is on one such causeway—or ‘cause’—that Wheeler’s narrative begins.]





on the edge of the Rumley marsh, which is said to be the cause, I was dismissed from drill at this place, and went to my duty as a soldier; in September we marched to Ramsgate, where we are at present stationed.


Viscount Cranley the Lord Lieutenant and Colonel of the 2nd. Surry is present and commands the Corps. His Lordship is a great favourite amongst us, his character contrasted with Major Hudson’s, who is generally in command, is as opposite as light and dark. Lord C—— is quite an eccentric character, and I think a much better coachman than soldier. He rides a low poney when on parade and his dress being of the fassion some forty years ago, he has a drole appearance. He has acquired the cognomen of ‘Punch on a Pig.’ This it seems had come to his Lordship’s knowledge, for one morning he rode up to Major H—— and said to him loud enough to be heard, ‘Major what do you think the men calls me?’ ‘I dont know my Lord’ was the reply. ‘Why it is Punch on a pig.’ The Major began to smile but he was soon stopped by Lord C—— asking the Major if he knew what the men called him. The reply was in the negative. ‘Well then I will tell you it is B——y Bob.’


I will close this letter by giving you an anecdote of his Lordship, it will at one view shew you the goodness of his heart. The summer before I joined, the Regiment with several other Militia Regts were encamped at Ashford. Lord C——was on his journey to the camp to take the command of the whole. A short distance from London he overtook a soldier very lame, His Lordship hailed him and found he was on his journey for Ashford Camp—he soon persuaded the man to mount the dickey and as he drove along the soldier related to the supposed coachman a long story respecting his fears, that he was two days over his time and that his commanding officer was a ——, and that he was sure to be punished when he arrived at the camp. ‘That you shall not’ said his Lordship ‘I will spake for you.’ The man said his commanding officer was such a proud tyranizing fellow that by his speaking it would only make matters worse etc. and he would perhaps spake to his master and get him turned out of his place, for the soldier took Lord C—— for a coachman, and his Lordship took care not to undeceive him. When they arrived at the Camp the carriage and four was driven up to the Tent of the officer this man so much dreaded, but what must the man’s astonishment be when he heard the old coachman say to this officer commanding the troops, ‘I have picked up one of your poor fellows on the road completely broken down. If I had not fell in with him, By —— he would not have been here this week. I request you will not punish him for being over his time.’ The officer so much dreaded stood as humble as a Lamb, cap in hand, bowing and scraping. Lord C—— said, to the man ‘get down my good fellow, did I not tell you I would spake for you.’ What followed is natural to suppose.


NO. 2. Riding Street Bks., 13th. February 1809


[Reading (spelt also in marching orders and letter-books ‘Reding’ and ‘Riding’) Street Barracks were situated between Tenterden and Appledore in Kent.]


You will see by this letter that we are removed to our old quarters, a short time before we left Ramsgate. Lord C——preferred a long string of charges against Major Hudson, who had the choice either to stand a General Court Martial or retire from the service. The Major chosed the latter.


Thus the Regiment is ridded of as great a tyrant as ever disgraced the army. This man delighted in torturing the men, every man in the Corps hated him, when once a soldier came under his lash it was no use for any officer to plead for him. If he was young, his reply was: ‘It will do him good, make him grow and make him know better for the future.’ On the other hand if he was getting into years, the brute would say. ‘Oh! he is old enough to know better.’ He delighted in going round the Bks on a Sunday morning to see if he could catch any of the married people roasting their meat. If he saw any meat roasting he would cut it down, and carry away the string and nail in his pocket, observing they should boil their meat, it was more nourishing. Once he paid a visit to the Hospital and saw a cat. ‘Whose cat is this’ said he. ‘It is mine, Sir’ said the Hospital Segeants wife. ‘We are very much troubled with rats and mice.’ ‘I dont care a D——’ was the reply, ‘you know my order, I will neither have dogs, cats, rats, or mice here.’


Beside the name of B——y Bob he had acquired the cognomen of ‘Wheel ’em again,’ from the habit of calling to the Serjeant Major, ‘Do they grumble?’ The answer would be ‘Yes, sir’—‘Then wheel ’em again.’ He also has got the name of the ‘Lion and the Bear’; the following lines are part of a song some one of the men composed on him and a young sub—a great favourite of the Majors.




The lion one day to the jackal did say,


The colonel from the Regiment is gone;


I’ll drill them I swear,


With the voice of a bear.


Secure arms with your bayonetts fix’d on.*





His departure was quite a jubilee to the Regiment. Captain (later Lieut.-Colonel Richard) Frederick is appointed Major in his place.


To fill up the remainder of this letter I must trouble you with another anecdote of Lord Cranley. A muster of the troops in the district took place, a Grand field day and sham fight was the consequence. Lord C—— had the commd. of a brigade. After some maneouvreing, which his Lordship as well understood as the nag that carried him, the line halted and a general discharge of musketry took place. Lord C—— was delighted. He rode up and down the line, calling to the men to load and fire as quick as possible. At length the fire slackened. He enquired the reason the men did not fire brisker. When he was informed the ammunition was nearly expended. ‘Well’ said he, ‘let the men stand at ease.’ The troops had now began to advance but Lord C——’s brigade remained stationary. The staff was despatched to order Lord C—— to push forward his brigade. It was all to no purpose. His Lordship was inflexable. ‘We want powder’ was his reply, ‘what use is going into battle without powder etc.’ At length the General came Galloping calling on His Lordship to move on. He might have saved himself the trouble. It was vain to try to persuade Lord C——that he should move on. ‘I want more powder.’ ‘You have spoiled the line and in the event of a real fight you would endanger the safety of the whole Army. Let me entreat your Lordship to move on.’ ‘D—— it, man, what is the use. I want powder.’ At length Lord C—— told the General to appoint some one else to command the Brigade, observing: ‘D—— it, General, I don’t see the use of going into battle without powder. He then called for his carriage, mounted the dickey, saying if the General would learn him to be a soldier he would learn the General to be a coachman. The day we marched into Canterbury His Lordship drove into the City with his carriage completely crammed with the soldiers wives, whom he had picked up on the road.




[*The drill movement of ‘securing arms’ was performed from the position of shouldered arms, when the musket rested almost perpendicularly against the left shoulder and was supported by the left hand, the left arm being slightly bent and not quite fully extended. To ‘secure arms’ the musket was shifted in three movements, until the butt—toe uppermost—was tucked partly under and partly past the left armpit, and the barrel, gripped at the swell by the left hand, was pointing obliquely to the front, with the muzzle near the ground. By holding the musket in this position, rain would be prevented from trickling into the firing-pan or into the muzzle and down the barrel.


The danger of raking the back of the man in front in bringing down the musket from the perpendicular to the oblique would be greatly increased if a bayonet were fixed to the musket.]





NO. 3. Maidstone, 12th. April 1809.


I have at length escaped from the Militia without being flead alive. I have taken the first opportunity and voluntiered together with 127 of my comrades into the 51st Light Infantry Regiment. I had made up my mind to voluntier but into what regiment I cared not a straw, so I determined to go with the greatest number. The latter end of March the order came. On the 1st. April I gave in my name for the 51st. The 2nd. and 3rd. was occupied by the Doctors inspection and the General’s approval, and on the 4th. I was attested for 7 years.


The Regiment is laying some where in Devonshire. I have not seen a single man belonging to the Corps, except Lieutenant [Edward] Frederick, brother to the Major of the Surry Militia. Upwards of 90 men voluntiered to the 95th Rifle Regiment. I was near going to this Regt. myself for it was always a fancy Corps or mine, and another cause was that Lieut Foster a good officer beloved by every man in the Corps I had left, voluntiered into the 95th. But I had made up my mind to go with the strongest party.


Maidstone is full of voluntiers, belonging to every Regiment in the service. It will not be long before we shall leave this scene of drunkenness and riot, and the sooner the better. When I join the Regiment I shall write again. I shall then have more time and shall have collected something that will enable me to spin out a long letter.


NO. 4. Kingsbridge Bks. 18th May, 1809.


Two days after I had written my last letter we marched for Kingsbridge Bks. Devonshire, and joined the Regiment. We could not have had a more pleasant march. The weather was fine and not being encumbered with baggage, and not under any restraint, we performed our days march at what time we pleased. In marching through Surry we lost nearly all the party, some mornings only two or three would muster to march with the officer, who had command of us. But by the time we got to Salisbury the whole of the party had again collected and we found we had increased in numbers, having picked up several smart young fellows on the road.


We had one incident of rather a ludicrous nature happened on the Road; before I say anything of the 51st Regt. I will relate it to you. It was as follows—Corporal Shortland, one of our voluntiers, had began at Maidstone to shew symptoms of Madness. We all thought that he was acting the old soldier, whether it is the case or no, it would be improper for me to judge. The morning we marched out of Salisbury, poor S—— presented one of the curiousest characters I ever saw. As we were assembling in the morning he made his appearance dressed in the following drole manner; his head was ornamented with an old bee hive and the other part of his dress consisted of an old blue petticoat, tied round his neck, the bottom scarcely reached so low as a Highlander’s Kilt, his legs and feet were bare, in his right hand he carried a shepherd’s crook. Thus dressed and equiped he was hailed with three cheers, and off we marched with S—— in our front, but it was soon found that not being accustomed to march without shoes, he would not be able to proceed far, so it happened that a luckless donkey was feeding by the side of the road. Of course he was pressed into the service and poor Corporal S—— was mounted on him; in this manner he performed the days march. The poor fellow is now in Hospital.


I must now say something of the Corps I have joined. We are about eight hundred strong, about one hundred and fifty of this number are old soldiers, the remainder being voluntiers from the Stafford, South Gloucester, 1st. and 2nd. Surry together with some half dozen Irish Militias. The facings of the Regiment are Green, but all the voluntiers at present wears the facings of the different regiments they have left. It will be impossible for me to say anything of the Regiment, that is if it be good or bad, but I rejoice to say I have escaped from the one I left with a whole skin. If the old soldier’s reports of the treatment and discipline of the 51st. be correct, I shall have no cause to repent. From the little I have seen I am inclined to believe I shall find this to be a good Corps. The Regt. was employed on General Moore’s Expedition in which they in common with the army suffered much indeed, if half be true what I have heard from the old hands. I am at a loss to account that so many has returned. The Regiment is commanded by Lieut. Colonel Mainwaring, a very humane man. He is no advocate for the cat o’nine tails. I have more than once heard it remarked that if he could not stand fire better than witness flogging he would be the worst soldier in the Army.




[The 51st had recently returned from Spain, after taking part in Sir John Moore’s audacious stroke against the French communications. That stroke temporarily dislocated Napoleon’s plans, causing him to recall the forces he had sent to occupy Portugal and the south of Spain.


At the beginning of the campaign, Sir David Baird with some 10,000 troops—including the 51st—landed at Corunna in October, 1808. At about the same time Sir John Moore left Lisbon with 20,000 troops and marched north-east through Portugal and Spain to meet Baird’s reinforcement. The combined total was little more than a tenth of the French total in Spain.


Meanwhile the Spanish armies had been defeated and scattered to the winds. Napoleon then turned on Moore, and pursued him to Corunna, where the British Army was forced to re-embark in order to save itself from annihilation.


Moore himself was mortally wounded in the final fight at Corunna to cover the re-embarkation. His earliest service as a young officer had been in the 51st, and he had later commanded it.]





NO. 5. Berryhead Bks. 20th June, 1809.


What a funny drole set of beings the old soldiers of the Regt. are. They are continually relating such marvellous tales of Murders, rapes, and robberies that would frighten Old Devil Dunk himself if he could here them. I listen to there tales, with some degree of interest often doubting the truth of the fatigues etc. they seem to delight to relate.


Colonel Mainwaring is one of the most eccentric characters I ever met with. I make no doubt but I shall be able to amuse you with many anecdotes about him, in some future letters. I will relate one to you as I heard it myself, it happened in the summer of 1807. The Regiment at the time was stationed at Chichester Barracks, several boys from the Duke of York’s school,* with others born in the Regt. were put on pay. Near the Barracks was an orchard well stocked with Cherries. Several of the boys got into the Orchard, but the vigilent eye of the owner soon discovered the marauders, but before he could even identify one, the whole bolted over the opposite hedge. The farmer came to the Colonel to lodge his complaint. All the boys were assembled but the farmer could not tell one from the other, they being all about the same height and dressed alike. ‘I see, was not this the case,’ said Colonel M——. ‘When you looked over the hedge, they young rogues popped over the other opposite.’ ‘Just so, Sir’ was the reply. ‘I thought as much. They have learnt something from the crows that robs you of your corn. Like them they had thrown out their sentries, so they out Generaled you, but I am too old a soldier to be done by such a set of young spalpeens. If I cannot find out the thieves I will soon see who has eaten the fruit. I will make the whole of the rascals disgorge the contents of their stomack at our feet.’ Then turning round, he shouts for the Serjeant of the Hospital to bring fourteen emetics immediately. The boys turned pale. One called out ‘I ate some, sir, but I was not there. I was in the Barrack room. Bob —— gave me a hand full.’ Bob —— endeavoured to excuse himself by saying he did not get up into the tree, he only held his cap while Bill —— threw them down. In short every one had his excuse. The Colonel separated the innocent from the guilty, and the old man was struck dumb with astonishment at the superior sagacity of the Colonel.


This morning we had a field day. It was performed so much to the satisfaction of Colonel M—— that it put him into one of his best of good humours, so he imparted a secret to us, which he said would ‘make our hearts leap with joy.’ He had written to the Duke of York to inform him we were all tired of eating the bread of idleness, and was longing to go out on service. He had received an answer saying that our request should be attended to, and that we were to hold ourselves in readiness for a General inspection preparatory to our embarkation.


He was full of chat and amused us by relating many curious anecdotes of himself and of others. He added how happy we should feel when we saw another wreath of laurel added to our colours, and that to, by our own exertions. He finished by telling us how proud he felt to have the command of such a fine body of men. ‘Here’ he exclaimed, ‘is John Bull from England; Swaney from Scotland, and Paddy from my own country. By J——s, we will not only beat the French but we will eat them afterwards.’


I have said the Colonel is adverse to flogging, yet he has been under the necessity of whipping one man since I joined. This fellow had deserted when the Regiment was under order for Corunna. He was sentenced five hundred lashes he only received 75 he was then taken down, our ranks opened, and the poltroon, as the Colonel justly called him, was ordered to march between the ranks. At the same time Colonel M—— kept shouting ‘soldiers spit on the cowardly poltroon, you should all p—— over him if it were not too indecent.’




[*In 1801, Frederick Augustus, Duke of York and second son of George III, founded the Royal Military Asylum for Boys, now generally referred to as the Duke of York’s School. It was originally housed at Chelsea, just to the north of the Hospital, but moved in 1909 to its present quarters at Dover. Entry to the school was, and is, open only to the sons of warrant and non-commissioned officers and men who are serving or have served in the Regular Army—or of officers commissioned from the ranks.







NO. 6. Berryhead Bks. 30th. June 1809.


[The 51st moved to Berryhead Barracks on June 19th, 1809. In May, before leaving Kingsbridge, it was made a Light Infantry Regiment ‘probably as a reward for its good services in the Corunna campaign and probably also as a memorial to Sir John Moore, the exponent of everything pertaining to light infantry, and the former commanding officer of the regiment.’ (The Life of a Regimental Officer During the Great War 1793-1815 by Lieut.-Colonel A. F. Mockler-Ferryman—based on the letters of Colonel Samuel Rice, 51st Light Infantry.)


Colonel H. C. Wylly in The History of the K.O.Y.L.I., Vol. I, quotes, from official correspondence, a request by Lieut.-General Morshead, Colonel of the 51st, that ‘in the event of any addition being made to the number of the Light Battalions, the 51st might be included in that number.’


In a reply dated 2nd May, 1809, the Adjutant-General stated ‘His Majesty has been pleased to approve of the 51st Regiment being immediately formed into a Light Infantry Corps in all respects upon the same plan as the 43rd, 52nd, 68th, 71st, and 85th Regiments.’ These were the only light infantry regiments in existence at that time.


The present titles and the year in which they were officially recognized as light infantry regiments are as follows:


The 52nd Foot, now the 2nd Bn. Oxford and Bucks. L.I. made 1803


The 43rd Foot, now the 1st Bn. Oxford and Bucks. L.I. made 1803


The 68th Foot, now the 1st Bn. Durham Light Infantry made 1808


The 85th Foot, now the 2nd Bn. King’s Shropshire L.I. made 1808


The 71st Foot, now the 1st Highland L.I. made 1809


The 51st Foot, now the 1st Bn. King’s Own Yorkshire L.I. made 1809


Not until 1813, however, does the Army List refer to any of these regiments as ‘Light Infantry.’]





The inspection is over it took place the 23rd. inst. and we are under orders for service. The vessels intended to convey us to Spithead are expected every moment. It is the general custome of most regiments to shut up the gates, and confine the men to Barracks when under orders for Foreign service. Not so with us. Colonel M—— does not approve of this plan. When he received the order the gates were thrown wide open that the good soldier might make merry and enjoy himself, at the same time adding that if there should be any poltroons in disguise amongst us they might be off. It was only the good soldiers he wished to take with him. We were going to reap laurels, therefore he should not hinder the good soldier from enjoying himself for the sake of keeping a few good for nothing fellows. If any such had crept unto the Corps, they would only cover the Regiment with disgrace. The confidence reposed in us was not in one single instance abused, not one man having deserted. [Moore had adopted a similar plan when the 51st sailed from Cork for Gibraltar in 1792.] I have been detained two hours since I began this letter, about the baggage, and now I am about to recommence two vessels are coming round the point, the wind favourable and all in high glee. I must close this by promising to write you all particulars in my next.


NO. 7. Spithead. H.M. Ship l’Impetueux.1 15th. July, 1809.


We embarked on board several cutters and sailed in a few hours after my last. I am now about to fulfill my promise, my will is good but I fear my ability is insufficient to keep pace with my pen. However I will be as communicative as possible and give a faithful detail of passing events, I must crave your indulgence if I prove tedious, my only wish is to amuse.


It being the first time I was ever on salt water nothing could be more pleasant; our little cutter skimmed over the waves like a seagull. I had not the least symptom of sea sickness; never did I pass so agreeable a morning. I was on deck at daybrake. We were running close under the land; it was quite a fairy scene. The only thing that disturbed my mind was that I had entered the army. I would have given the world to have been a sailor. We continued sailing without altering rope or sheet, until we run along side the Pompey (74). We went on board this vessel but was soon shifted to the l’Impetueux (80).


The whole Regt. was put on board, she had her lower deck guns taken out and the larboard side of the lower deck was all the room allotted to us, the remainder was occupied by the ships company. Your having been to Spithead relieves me from the task of attempting to describe this place. I remember what you often told me in the garden, that the masts of the ships appeared as thick as the kidney bean sticks, from that time my curiosity increased to see this grand sight, you will therefore excuse me if I say that being in the midst of such a novelty, instead of attending to my own comfort in seeing where my birth was below, I remained on deck, feasting my eyes on the wonders that surround me until Taptoo, it is true I had been below and put up my appointments. [‘Taptoo’ is a word of Dutch origin from ‘tap,’ a tap (of a cask) and ‘toe,’ meaning: put to, shut, closed. The ‘taptoo’ was thus originally the signal for closing the taps of the public houses and warning the soldiers to return to their quarters for the night. Although ‘taptoo’ became corrupted into ‘tattoo’ early in the 16th century, ‘taptoo’ remained an equally current alternative until as late as the 19th century.] I knew that the Company I belonged to was stationed forward close to the manger. When the gun fired all the soldiers were ordered down except the watch. I descended by the main hatchway, all was darkness, and the deck completely covered with the troops. The first step I took off the slips was on some ones leg, the second on an Irishman’s face, who swore by —— that some tundering tief had murdered him, I made another stride and found there was nothing but living bodies to walk on, I was soon arrested in my course for some one seized hold of my leg and down I threw myself across half a dozen of my comrades, a battle royal instantly commenced in the dark. I remembered the old adage, ‘The biggest coward has the best luck, in those kind of broils.’ I lay still, so by the time the battle was over I had contrived to get the length and breadth of my person on the deck where I lay ’til morning.


But the best is to come. The decks had been newly caulked, the heat of so many bodies had drawn the pitch and tar, so that we were stuck fast in the morning. It was the most ludicrous sight immaginable, some were fast by the head, others had got an arm secured, those who had laid on their backs were completely fast, some who were wrapped in their blankets came of best, but their blankets were completely spoiled. It was a fine treat for the blue jackets to see all the lobsters stuck fast to the decks. Better arrangements have since been made and we are now comparatively comfortable.


I have found a townsman on board, young Alexander. I eat and drink with him so that I am much better off than many of my comrades. I said I wished I had entered into the navy but I am now satisfied with the choice I have made. What a difference is there in the treatment of the men on board this ship compared to our Regiment, if the discipline on board the l’Impetueux is a correct index of the other ships of the Navy. I will always stop my ears when ‘Britons never shall be slaves’ is sung.


The first Lieutenant who goes by the name of ‘Ugly Betty’ is a tall thin meagre ugly looking fellow, and what is worse then all his mind is as evil as his person is disagreeable. The Captain comes on board every Wednesday to punish, and ‘Ugly Betty’ never fails to have a long list to present to him. The Captain is no niggard at serving out the rope yarn, Ugly Betty’s word is always taken, very few ever escapes, until their backs are lacerated in such a manner that causes many a hardy tar to faint at the sight. This is done without asking any questions as to the truth or falsehood of the charge, or with the mock shew of a trial. When a poor fellow is tied up he is ignorant how many lashes he is to receive, the Boatswains mates keep tearing the flesh until the Captain order the man to be taken down. The Boatswain if not a twin brother of Ugly Betty, seems to be possessed with the same evil genius. Nothing can be done by this worthy disciple of the Devil Credulous, without the ropes end, and plenty of curses, ——


Spithead is all bustle, crammed with vessels, from the huge three decker to the smallest craft, thousands of lighters and boats are on the move continually. A certain number of seamen from the different line of battle ships are to serve on shore with us, they will be employed in dragging guns, ammunition stores etc. These men are to be equipped with a cutlash and pistols, a broad canvass belt to fasten to the gun. Alexander will be employed on this service. This will prove a treat to the seamen, some of whom has not been on shore many years.


NO. 8. H.M. Ship l’Impetueux. Downs. 28th. July, 1809.


You will perceive by this we have left Spithead and have arrived at the Downs, where the whole expedition is assembled. Colonel Mainwaring joined us a few days after I wrote you last. He was no sooner on board then he ordered us all to parade to see how we all were, he expressed great pleasure on finding us all in good health. He said the ‘Old Poltroon’ was come at last, he was not going to stay behind to disgrace himself. This must have been a thunderstroke to the men whom the cap fitted.


To make you acquainted with this odd expression I must tell you that at the time we embarked at Torbay, Colonel Main-waring came round the different vessels we were on board, to see how we were situated, this done he got into his boat and pushed off for the shore wishing us a pleasant passage to Spit-head. Some of our men who had been sacrificing to the shrine of Bacchus, called after the Colonel. ‘There goes the old poltroon, we will go on service ourselves, we will leave him at home to disgrace him.’ This was going too far with a joke, but Colonel M—— knew it was what he had often repeated himself, he therefore took no further notice of it. The fact was Colonel M—— was going to Portsmouth by land with his Lady and intended to join us at Spithead. Some of the sailors observed that it would be a serious joke for any of them to practice with their Captain, it would cost them buckets of blood.


Now I am writing the Colonel has just passed by and he has had a row with one of the men. I do not know what the offence was, but Colonel M—— patted the Eaupulet on his shoulder, saying ‘If it was not for this.’ Then clenching his fist and putting it up to the man’s nose, said ‘I would let you know that Colonel Mainwaring has got an iron fist.’


The Earl of Chatham commands the expedition and is on board the Admiral. Everybody is ready, the wind blowing up the channel, the blue petre flying and the fleet unmooring, we shall soon be off. Our destination is still a secret.




NO. 9. Camp near West Zuburg. 5th. August 1809.


[The main British effort of 1809 was devoted to an attempt to capture Napoleon’s naval base at Antwerp and block the outlet of the Scheldt—‘a pistol held at the head of England.’ To achieve these objectives it was necessary to seize various islands lying across the mouth of the Scheldt, of which Walcheren was one. An army of 40,000 men under the Earl of Chatham and a fleet under Sir Richard Strachan were despatched on this expedition. The muddle and delay which resulted after the landing on Walcheren inspired the amusing doggerel—


Lord Chatham with his sword undrawn


Kept waiting for Sir Richard Strachan;


Sir Richard eager to be at ’em


Kept waiting too—for whom? Lord Chatham.


Although the expedition gave Napoleon a momentary shock, it was otherwise a dismal failure. It had been intended also as a diversion in aid of Austria—but on the day the expedition sailed from Portsmouth news reached England that, after her defeat at Wagram, Austria had once more signed an armistice with Napoleon.]





On the 30th ultimo we dropped anchor off the Island of Walcherien after a pleasant passage of nine hours. Our birth was next to the Eagle, 74, at the turn of the tide, we got foul of each other, our stern was aground; in order to remedy the evil the guns on the quarter deck were run forward to lighten her stern. ‘Ugly Betty’ had stationed himself on the poop awning with the speaking trumpet, swearing and growling like ——. The repeated strokes we every moment received from the Eagle shook us violently, one of these strokes sent ‘Ugly Betty’ head foremost on the quarter deck and broke both his legs. The news flew like wild fire, and with it universal joy at his fate. I should not have thought it worth while to have said anything of the matter, but a few hours before, ‘Ugly Betty’ kicked some of our men who were in his way and called them ‘a —— set of lobsterbacked ——,’ adding ‘some of us would be in hell before tomorrow this time.’


The next morning we were all ready for landing, but as our Regiment was to disembark with the 2nd. Division I had a good opportunity of observing the preparations of the 1st Division, and the manner they effected their landing. The Gunboats had taken up their position along the shore, the flats full of soldiers and towed by the ship’s boats, formed in rear of the Gunboats. On a signal the flats advanced. [These were shallow-draught boats, like large punts, used in a landing for ferrying troops from ship to shore.] All now was solemn silence, saving the gunboats, who were thundering showers of iron on the enemy. Their well directed fire soon drove them to shelter, behind the sandbank. The flats had now gained the Gunboats, shot through the intervals and gained the shallow water, when the troops leaped out and waded ashore, drove the enemy from behind the hills where they had taken shelter from the destructive fire of the Gunboats. Some batteries and forts were soon taken, the enemy fled and we lost sight of the contending parties. After this we soon landed and on the beach our Brigade was formed. It consisted of the 14th., 51st. and 82nd. Regts. commanded by Major Genl. Houston. We then moved on some distance and encamped for the night.


The next morning, 1st. of August, a remarkable day, it being the fiftieth anniversary of the Battle of Minden. Colonel M—— could not let this opportunity slip without addressing us. I wish I could give you his speech, that is impossible. He told us that all the pleasure and happiness he had ever felt fell short of the pleasure he now felt at being at the head of that Corps, who on that day fifty years had by their native valour repulsed and defeated the whole body of the enemy’s Cavalry before Minden. He shewed us the word Minden on our Colours, and reminded us it was inscribed on our breast plates. He said it was probable we should fall in with the enemy that day, and if we did not give them a good drubbing, how could we ever return home to our Fathers, Mothers etc. Our country expected much from us, the Regiment in its infant state had performed prodigies of valour on that day, and now that we had grown grey (some of us) in the service, would it not be expected we should eclips them in glory etc. etc. etc. In the course of his address he recurred to his old favourite maxim of firing low, you will then hit them in the legs and there will be three gone, for two will pick him up and run away with him, we shall soon thin them this way, then we can dispose of the remainder at our ease.


[The 51st was part of the small British contingent sent to the help of Frederick the Great of Prussia in meeting the coalition of Austria, France, Russia, Saxony and Sweden. This contingent arrived on the scene in 1758, the third year of the Seven Years War, and joined the army of Prince Ferdinand of Brunswick. On the 1st August, 1759, the two French armies of Contades and Broglie launched a united attack on Ferdinand at Minden. The situation looked bad. But, through a misinterpreted order, the six British infantry battalions, along with three German battalions, moved out of their position and advanced against the mass of cavalry in the French centre.


The French artillery pounded them as they marched forward with drums beating and colours flying, the French cavalry delivered three successive charges—by forty-three squadrons in all—and four brigades of French infantry assailed their flanks. But their volleys shattered the cavalry charges, and they pressed on steadily, so disrupting the French array that Marshal Contades was driven to order a retreat. He is said to have declared: ‘I never thought to see a single column of infantry break through three lines of cavalry, and tumble them to ruin.’


The victorious infantry followed in pursuit, plucking roses from the gardens around Minden to decorate their caps.


On each anniversary the regiments that took part in that astonishing feat commemorate it by reviving the decoration—the 51st wear white roses, the distinctive emblem of the Yorkist side in the Wars of the Roses. (Major W. H. Hare of the 51st, however, says in his account of the Walcheren landing—‘it being the anniversary of the Battle of Minden, the men all plucked any green shrub as a substitute for laurel to put in their caps.’ From this it would appear that it was customary at the time to wear laurel instead of roses.)


The six ‘Minden’ regiments were the


12th Foot, now the Suffolk Regiment


20th Foot, now the Lancashire Fusiliers


23rd Foot, now the Royal Welch Fusiliers


25th Foot, now the King’s Own Scottish Borderers


27th Foot, now the 1st Bn. Hampshire Regiment


51st Foot, now the 1st Bn. King’s Own Yorkshire Light Infantry.]


Soon after this Harangue we advanced on Midleburg, a neat clean little city, the capital of the Island. The gates were soon opened to us and we remained some time halted in the street. At length we marched out on the great road to Flushing. Colonel M—— with one of our Comps. and the Light Company of the 82nd. Regiment formed the advance guard. The 82nd. was in front this day, we had taken the front the day before.


Before the rear of our Brigade had cleared the city, we received a volley of musketry on our pivot flank (we were marching in column of subdivisions* right in front). The word was now given ‘Wheel into line,’ ‘Prime and Load.’† Before we had time to load, another volley was fired. The contents of this as of the first passed over our heads. We could see from whence the fire came but could not see the enemy. To advance upon them was impossible, there being several deep ditches between us. We then broke into open column of subdivisions and continued our rout in double quick time. We soon came to a wind mill, here the road turned suddenly to the left, we now saw it was crowded with the enemy in full retreat for Flushing, we followed hard in pursuit about two miles without meeting with any thing to retard our progress, when we were suddenly stopped, and the fire from the enemy increased; it was now evident that some impediment was in the way. We could not form into any other order, neither could we render much assistance to the advance as there were deep ditches full of water, each side the road. A few of us did manage to get across into the field on our left, but was soon obliged to return for we met other ditches, wider and deeper, than those beside the road. The enemy at this place had thrown up a breast work and had dug a trench.


After passing this place we jogged on at a smart pace until we came to the Village of West Zuberg.‡ The enemy had now formed, Colonel M—— with the advance guard charged, drove them through the Village, and took two 9 pounders. We followed them as far as the Swan Inn, here we were obliged to halt, or we should have been exposed to the guns of the garrison; Piquets was now thrown out, and the Brigade fell back near to West Zuberg and encamped. I believe the distance from Middleburg to Flushing is about 4 miles.




[*An explanation is here required of the terms ‘division’ and ‘subdivision,’ which frequently recur. A battalion was composed of eight normal companies—to which a grenadier company and a light (or skirmisher) company was added. But apart from these two specialist detachments, the company was an administrative unit, not a tactical unit. When the battalion assembled on parade ready to move off, it was divided into eight equal parts, and then subdivided into sixteen—hence the terms ‘division’ and ‘subdivision.’


Thus the ‘subdivision’ corresponded to the twentieth-century platoon. But in the eighteenth century ‘platoon’ (derived from the French word pelote—a ball, or pellet) was a tactical term applied to the fire-unit. Each of the eight divisions, or ‘platoons,’ of the battalion fired in turn—so as to avoid a pause in the fire while reloading. From this arose the vivid terms ‘rolling platoon fire’ or ‘rolling volleys’ which are often found in battle-narratives.


Under new Regulations issued in 1811 companies were ‘divided into two platoons apiece, when on war establishment, and thus the term acquired its modern meaning as a sub-unit of the company, instead of its former meaning as the tactical equivalent of the company.


† Priming and loading entailed half-cocking the firelock, opening a powder-filled cartridge by biting off the top, opening the firing-pan, shaking powder down the barrel before putting in cartridge and ball, and ramming home the charge with the ramrod.


‡ Wheeler is here mistaken—it was East Zouburg. But Wheeler again speaks, mistakenly, of ‘West’ Zouburg.


The official report submitted to the House of Commons on the 5th February, 1810, mentions only one piece, a six-pounder, as having been captured in the assault on East Zouberg, but says that three six-pounders were captured in an assault on the village of Abeele on the road to East Zouburg. Wheeler’s account does not distinguish between the two assaults.]





NO. 10. Camp West Zuburg. 12th. August, 1809.


I wanted to say more in my last, want of room obliged me to cut short the latter part of my letter. I told you that Colonel M—— charged at West Zuburg and took two guns, it was well he did, for it appeared to be the intention of the enemy to keep possession, at least for the evening, of the village, for here their whole force was formed. At the entrance of the village they had planted two 9 pounders, equal to our 12 pounders, these were loaded with grape, in a few seconds more their contents would have been discharged on us, but such was the impetuosity of the charge they were driven from their ground leaving the guns behind loaded, we punished the enemy severely from this place to the Swan Inn, distance about a quarter of a mile, the road was strewed with their killed and wounded and a great many prisoners were made, from the buttons on the prisoners clothes, it appeared they belonged to the 1st. and 2nd. Battalions Irish Legion and the 1st. Colonial Battalion. [When formed on the 21st August, 1803, the Irish Legion consisted of only one battalion. Its patron, the Duc de Feltre, was very conscious of his Irish ancestry and believed that his ‘Legion,’ composed, as it originally was, exclusively of United Irishmen and pro-Stuart Scots, would become a source of great anxiety to the British Government. By 1809 it had grown to two battalions and later, having been further increased by admitting troops of any nationality, took the title of ‘The Irish Regiment.’ On the 3rd August, 1811, it was deprived of this title and became simply the 3rd Foreign Regiment.]


As soon as our camp was formed I was sent on fatigue party to West Zuburg. I had not in the hurry of the fight noticed many of the killed and wounded, but now I had time, I could not without pity and some degree of horror look at the desolating scene around me. The inhabitants had fled, taking some trifling movable things with them, the remainder is either carried off or destroyed by the enemy, the dead and dying laying about covered with blood, sweat, and dust looks frightful, the wounded some in their last agony begging for water, others writhing under pain, calling on some one to shoot them. But amidst all this pain and misery, it is delightful to see the very same soldiers, who an hour before were dealing destruction about them, tendering all the assistance in their power to a fallen enemy. What a boast to belong to such a country.


I shall relate one anecdote to you that will be illustrative of the temper and good feeling the British soldier manifests towards an enemy in distress. We found a poor Frenchman badly wounded, his leg appeared to be fractured in two places, he was laying as he dropped, which caused much pain, we removed him to a house, put him on some straw, the poor fellow fainted. ‘D—— it,’ said Perkins ‘is there no gin amongst us, the poor fellow will die.’ Finagan who was supporting his head called out ‘B——d and U——ds, here take this shilling one of ye and see if you can get some gin.’ The poor fellow revived and expressed his gratitude in a language none of us understood. My attention was now arrested by a voice in broken English, I turned round, and saw a Gentleman, an inhabitant of the place, he was standing with his hands clasped together ejaculating in English ‘Merciful Heaven, what do I see, these men who a short time since fought on this spot with the fury of Lions, has cast aside their ferosity and asumed the character of the Lamb, they make no distinction, their enemy is treated with the same tenderness and compassion as their own comrades, come with me, I will fill all your bottles. We got our wooden canteens full of gin, then after securing the Commissariat stores returned to camp. This place we have made as comfortable as possible by errecting huts.


The enemy is completely shut up in Flushing, and we are going on with the necessary work for the destruction of the town. There is not an idle hand to be found, some are building battries, digging trenches, filling sand bags, making large wicker baskets, carpenters making platforms, Sailors bringing up guns, Mortars, Howitzers, ammunition, Shot, shell etc. All this work is going on under the beautiful music of all the guns and mortars the garrison can bring to bear on any of our works. Our duty has chiefly been on picquets, and covering parties to check the enemy should they salley out to destroy our works.


I have seen Alexander, he was well and in good spirits, highly pleased with the treat of being on shore. Two nights ago we were visited by a dreadful Thunder storm, such were the torrents of rain we were washed out of our camp, the barns and out houses of two farms near gave us shelter for the night. This has slightly hindered our work, but the progress made under so many difficulties is astonishing, every thing is nearly complete, and begins to assume a very formidable appearance. I am just come off duty from the advance works, we were covering a battery that will be complete tomorrow, there will be twenty 32 pounders mounted in this battery.


NO. 11. East Zuburg. 17th. August, 1809.


[The capitulation of Flushing actually took place on the 14th, though it was not until the following day that the garrison marched out and laid down their arms—see the end of Wheeler’s letter.]


Flushing surrendered yesterday, you will learn but little from me. You must gather the particulars from the papers. I must confine myself to what passed under my own eye, that cannot be much. ‘Corporal Trim’* justly observed to ‘My Uncle Toby that a soldiers observation cannot extend far beyond the muzzle of his firelock’—but I hope the little I shall communicate for your information will prove interesting.


On the 13th inst. I was on picquet at the Swan Inn, in the afternoon a Congreave Rocket† was fired from a Battery we were covering, it dropped short, this drew a heavy fire on us, without doing mischief. This appeared as much as to say, we are ready, and the enemy’s fire, plainly said so are we. The work of destruction soon began after this and both sides seemed determined. At dusk we were relieved off picquet and marched to camp, where I slept as comfortable as if I had been at home in my bed in the corner. The firing was very brisk the whole of the night. In the morning, agreable to practice, we marched to our alarm post. The roaring of the guns was some what slackened, and the town was on fire in several places. A great confusion of voices could be heard from the town, this no doubt was occasioned by the people endeavouring to extinguish the fires.


One of our men who was from the land of Saints, was to use our Colonel’s expression ‘The D——l of a boy for a drop of the crature.’ Doherty, for that is his name, had found some gin, and had made too free with it. The Colonel soon noticed what was the matter, and said ‘How now, Doherty, what is the matter you are not well.’ ‘Not at all your honour, Doherty was never better in his life. I have only just been taking a wee drop to the health of my comrades, who are battering down the cursed town about the ears of the blackguards in it, and if that is not the truth of the story then bad luck to me if I do not give your honour leave to tell me of it as long as I live.’ ‘But Doherty that wee drop was a large one I am afraid, besides you should have watered it.’ ‘Water it, did your honour say, why it is yourself you know that would never again own Doherty for a countryman, if he had been guilty of sich a thing.’ ‘Well if you would not water it yourself, I must.’ ‘Sergeant Major get me a rope, and you sir strip.’ The rope was tied by the centre round Doherty’s waist, one end thrown across a ditch, and some men sent across to take hold of it. In Doherty jumped like a Newfoundland dog, and the men each side by puling him backward and forward, gave him such a complete sousing as ever mortal had before. He was then ordered out, when he exclaimed ‘Och by J—— and its your honor that knows how to do every thing, may your honor never die. But the D——burn Doherty if he ever wishes to trouble your honor to mix any more grog for him.’ We were all laughing pretty heartily before, but this finisher set us all into a roar in which the Colonel and poor Doherty joined. At the bottom of the ditch was a great depth of black mud; this being well stirred up, he appeared as black as His Satanic Majesty.


The Bombardment continued all day, and increased at night. This night I was on picquet, it was beautiful and fine, one half of Flushing was in flames, the Fleet and the whole of the Batterys were at it pel mel. At midnight, when on sentry, I often counted fifteen shells and twelve rockets at one time hovering over and descending in to the devoted town. The roaring of guns and mortars, the hissing of Rockets, shot and shells, the chiming of the church bells, the French sentries calling at intervals ‘Alls well,’‡ the noise of the people trying to extinguish the fires, but above all, the heart rending cries of the poor women and children, beggars description.


The enemy sustained our fire with great fortitude until the morning of the 15th inst. when they surrendered. The gates and principal places were taken possession of by our troops this day and the enemy marched out with the honors of war, that is with fixed bayonets, colors flying, drums and music, and several field pieces loaded. They laid down their arms outside the garrison and were marched to the waterside to be shipped for England. I did not see this grand sight, being on the Provost Guard at East Zuburgh. The men who had been up to the gates gives a frightful account of the destruction of the town.




[*‘Corporal Trim’ and his master ‘My Uncle Toby,’ both wounded ex-soldiers, are two of the three main characters in Sterne’s novel The Life and Opinions of Tristram Shandy. This work appeared in nine volumes between 1760 and 1767.


Wheeler’s letters provide a number of significant sidelights on the extent and quality of his reading. They serve to correct the idea that Wellington fostered by that oft-quoted remark in which he spoke of his army being composed of ‘the scum of the earth.’ Wheeler, although exceptional, was by no means a solitary example to the contrary. There was a leaven of men who had been prompted to enlist by patriotism as well as a taste for soldiering, and they included a considerable number of serious-minded men with some measure of education.


†In 1805, William Congreve produced a projectile known as the ‘Congreve Rocket.’ Although he thus initiated the use of rocket-projectiles in the British Army, he was not the first to invent a rocket nor the first to see its military value. Rockets were used as projectiles by the Chinese in their wars with the Tartars early in the 13th century. They were also used in war in Europe as early as 1379 by the Paduans and 1380 by the Venetians. They were used with considerable effect against British troops at Seringapatam in India in 1799.


The Congreve Rocket could be fired from wheeled frames, from portable tripods, from earthworks so sloped as to provide the required degree of elevation, or simply from shallow trenches dug on the spot. It was first used in the naval attacks on Boulogne in 1806.


On land, the rocket became a supplementary weapon of the Artillery. Its often erratic behaviour put Wellington against it, but after its striking success at the Battle of Leipsig in 1813, a few rocket troops were employed in the last stage of the Peninsular War and at Waterloo. The British Army retained the Congreve Rocket until 1860, and its successor, the stickless Hale Rocket, was frequently used in colonial campaigns up to the end of the century—it was still held in the ammunition stores when World War I began. Continental armies abandoned the weapon earlier. It was revived in World War II—with much greater effect.


‡It was the French custom for the sentries to call out at intervals: ‘Sentinelles! garde à vous.’ To British soldiers ‘sentinelles’ sounded like their own cry ‘all’s well.’ Fortescue in his History of the British Army, remarks how at Badajoz the British construed the whole phrase as ‘all’s well in Badahoo.’





NO. 12. Anne Transport. Before Antwerp. 26th. August, 1809.


You see we have not been idle. As soon as we had reduced Flushing and the Island of Walcherine was our own, all the disposable part of the army embarked, and proceeded up the Scheldt to Antwerp. We are at present anchored before the City. The whole of the French fleet are strongly moored in the harbour, where they are as snug as their hearts can well desire, protected by formidable batteries and two large chains drawn across the mouth of the harbour, to make themselves doubly secure. The city is protected on the land side by an emence army, and troops are daily arriving to reinforce those already in camp. It is evident we are a day behind. Some heavy Cannonading takes place every time the tide serves, between our light vessels, and gunboats, and their batteries outside the entrance of the harbour. This does not appear to be of any service and must be attended with loss of life and an useless expenditure of ammunition. We should have run up here first, reduced Antwerp and then we might have taken Flushing.


We are getting tired of being stowed up in the Transports, and many of our men has been attacked with a severe ague,* which seems to threaten the whole army, it being on the increase. It is reported that the object that brought us here cannot be attained, and it is the general opinion if we should land that we should be very glad to get on board again, So if there is no more work cut out for us, we shall soon, as the Irishman says, be after returning home again.


I cannot refrain from relating to you an anecdote so strikingly illustrative of the British Tar’s character, although it cannot be done without telling a dirty story, as it was from a dirty trick the anecdote had its origin. Some of the dirty rascals on board the French fleet has been amusing themselves by —— on the Union Jack, on board one of their ships in the mouth of the harbour. In sight of the whole of our fleet, they have placed the British Jack under their bows for the ship’s company to evacuate on. I could not help laughing at one of our honest Jacks, who feeling a personal insult at such an unwarrantable dirty trick, could not help exclaiming ‘D——n their s——n cowardly eyes and limbs, if it was not for the cursed chain across the harbour, we would soon make the frog eating sons of B——s lick the filth off with their tongues.’ ‘But the batteries, Jack, how could you pass them?’ ‘D——n the batteries, we would soon blow them to hell, it is the chain that keeps us out, we have volunteered to try our hands at breaking it but the lubbers wont listen to us.’




[*The virulence of the Walcheren fever is strikingly summarized by Major H. L. Aubrey-Fletcher in his History of the Foot Guards: ‘… Of the 40,000 men who sailed from Portsmouth on 22nd July, 100 were killed in action, 4,200 died of fever, and of the remainder scarce one but fell sick before the expedition was abandoned, and many there were who never recovered fully from its effects.’ Although the island was not evacuated until December, by ‘the 7th September, the sick of the whole army, including those sent to England, amounted to 10,948.’ (Wylly’s History of the K.O.Y.L.I.).]





NO. 13. Horsham Bks. 20th. September, 1809.


Here I am returned safe and sound after encountering the dangers and fatigues of the late campaigne. I hasten to relieve your anxieties, you will therefore excuse a short letter, we arrived here yesterday, our second Division marched in today. We have left many sick at Portsmouth, and many fresh cases of ague are occuring daily. As soon as we are settled I shall write again.


NO. 14. Horsham Barracks. 15th. October, 1809.


My last letter on board the Anne Transport informed you it was rumoured that we should soon return. Nothing worthy of notice transpired, until we left our anchorage and sailed for England, this was on the 9th. September; we reached the Downs in twenty four hours, our Adjutant died on the passage. What his abilities might have been in the Household troops it is hard to say; he had been one of these lucky mortals whom dame fortune had selected from the ranks; with us he was a sort of harmless creature. Colonel Mainwaring was both Colonel and Adjutant. Had he some Colonels to deal with, no doubt he would have appeared in a different character, which I am led to think would not have been the best.


The 12th. we disembarked at Portsmouth and marched for Horsham. The Regiment is in a very sickly state, the hospital is full, and two barrack rooms each holding 60 men is occupied with convalescents; a great many has died and numbers who have recovered will never be fit for service again. I am the only man in the company to which I belong that has escaped the Ague. Poor Corporal Shortland, who I mentioned in a former letter had shewed symptoms of madness, when on our march to join the regiment from Maidstone, has hanged himself. He was found one morning suspended by his stockings to the accoutrament rack, in the setting room. Although his toes touched the ground he was quite dead.


NO. 15. Two Brothers Transport, Off Walcherine. 8th. November, 1809.


On the 17th Untimo we received orders to prepare a detachment of every man fit for duty to hold ourselves in readiness to march to Portsmouth. All we could muster was about 300. These were formed into six divisions, and under the command of Major Dunkin we marched to and embarked at Spithead, sailed for this place, dropped anchor between the Islands of Walcherine and South Beveland. Since we left these islands our people have evacuated South Beveland and the enemy has taken possession of it, the troops are so sickly in Walcherine. It is intended to destroy the works and dock yards together with every place belonging to the French Government, then leave the place; we are to remain on board to act as circumstance shall require; the enemy is throwing up works on the Island they occupy, and it is said they are meditating an attack on Walcherine. The river is full of our Gunboats, which are constantly annoying them, and they in return keep up a constant fire on our boats. so nothing is heard all day and night long but the clang of war, and seemingly without effecting any purpose whatever. Our situation here is not very pleasant, the weather is cold and we have not much room to exercise ourselves on deck; one comfort attending us is gin, and tobacco is cheap, so we can enjoy ourselves over a pipe and glass; the cause of our remaining on board is for the preservation of our health.


NO. 16. Horsham Bks. 17th. Feby. 1810.


We remained in our uncomfortable station on board the Two Brothers, until the beginning of January instant and then sailed once more for old England. [This appears to be a mistake, for according to the records the last of the force left Walcheren on 9th December.]


Some time before our departure the enemy were making active preparations for a descent on Walcherine, everything worth moving having been removed on board the fleet. The Works at Flushing, Dock Yard etc. being destroyed, the army of occupation embarked, we bid adieu to this land of sickness and death.


The headquarters of the Regiment being still at Horsham we received orders on our landing at Portsmouth to proceed to this place; about a mile from the Barracks we were met by Colonel Mainwaring. This was another of the Colonel’s proud days, he had brought the colours and band with him, as he said to do us honour. He welcomed us a hundred times, saying give each man a sprig of laurel, he delighted to honour such men. The day was to be devoted to feasting and mirth; he had ordered the ‘fatted calf’ to be killed and it was now smoking hot on the tables in the barracks, so we jogged on to the tune of ‘See the conquering hero comes’ to eat the ‘fatted calf.’ We found our dinners ready and sat down to it with a good appetite, cans of beer were going round merrily, and we were asking and answering questions, when who should pop in but Colonel M——, shouting ‘Its just as I thought Serjeant, why are not these poltroons cleaning my good soldiers appointments instead of robbing them. The service detachment wants an hours rest after dinner over the can and pipe. We who hae been staying at home eating the bread of idleness should think it on honor to wait on such men. If you do not make them all as clean as new pins, your port liberty shall be stopped, not one of you shall have the honour of spending the afternoon with them.’ The remainder of the day as a matter of course, was devoted to the jolly God; the Ague is still making great havock in our ranks, I have escaped as yet.


NO. 17. Horsham Bks. 17th. June 1810,


For the want of something better I shall fill up the remainder of this letter with an anecdote or two of Colonel M——. The 4th. of June being the grand jubilee or King’s birthday we marched through Horsham to a gentleman’s park, had a field day to amuse several ladies and gentlemen, then Fired a Feu de joi, and marched home. We formed square in the Barrack yard, when the Colonel began a lecture that lasted some time, he was in one of his best of good humours—an act of grace was to be performed, the prison doors were to be opened and the prisoners set free, but there was one unfortunate man whose crime was so great, that it required something extraordinary to be done before he could be purged from his guilt. It was Serjeant Harrison, he had been on Command and had lost or spent the public money intrusted to him, about £2—and deserted. He had been brought back on the 2nd. inst. The Colonel lectured poor H—— a long time, was afraid if he realeased him without thorou’ly wiping away all his guilt, it would be of little or no benefit to him or to the service. After a little consideration, he shouted out, ‘is there none can advise me in this important affair?’ All was silent, no one tendered their advice. ‘What’ he cried ‘will no one put their shoulders to the wheel. Then I must lift the waggon myself, spread the colours.’ The colours were brought to the middle of the square, the tops put together, thus forming a kind of arch. ‘Now H——’ said the Colonel ‘pass uncovered under those honourable Colours.’ This done, he shouts out, ‘He’s half clean, he must pass under them again, let the Colours touch him this time, now his crime he’s blotted out for ever he is regenerated, the new born babe is not more innocent, and, woe to the first man who ever mentions the affair to him.’ No one had been appointed in his place, he was therefore ordered to join his Company and retain his rank. He was not disliked, so everyone was pleased to see him restored in his former situation again.


The following is of a different complextion. The Colonel was in one of his worst of bad humours, it happened, after a field day when every thing went wrong, as we were returning home and was just entering the town. As is usual, the music struck up a quick march. The Colonel spurred his horse and dashed into the centre of the band, nearly upset the big drummer, whirled his horse about, drove the musicians in all directions, shouting ‘They shall have no music, the Poltroons, let them sneak through the town like a set of thieves. I would not give a bunch of dogs meat for the whole Corps. I will not disgrace myself with remaining with such a set of scoundrels, I will exchange or resign etc.’ We marched into the Barracks as quiet as if we were going to surprise the enemy, there we got it ‘hip and thigh’ until the Colonel was quite exhausted. He then dismissed us saying ‘a bird that can sing and wont, must be made sing.’ An order appeared directly after that convinced us he was not joking. It was for four hours extra drill per day, for a month.


NO. 18. Stenning Bks.2 30th August, 1810.


The 10th. inst. the Regiment marched to Brighton to be present at the celebration of the Prince of Wales’ birthday. We were quartered in the town, the other troops about 16,000 were encamped in the neighbourhood. On the 12th. the army assembled on the hills near Brighton, fired a Feu de joi, and marched past the Prince in review order, then returned home to the different encampments and quarters. The next day the troops marched to their respective stations in the district, except our Corps. We remained in Brighton two days, to perform some evolutions before the Prince, who was pleased to signify his approbation of the manner we had performed every movement. This piece of intelligence was imparted to us by Colonel M—— who swaggered in front of the Corps like a Bashaw with three tails. We then returned to Stenning.


Perhaps I have too often troubled you with anecdotes of Colonel M——, you must excuse me if I trouble you again. This I trust you will do when I inform you, if I am not the principal performer, I am at least the second in the farce. We had not been long at Stenning Bks. before the Opthalmia made its appearance in the Corps. It began to spread rapidly and many men were sent to Bognor, where an Ophthalmia hospital is established, every precaution that wisdom and experience could devise was taken, but for all the dire disorder increased. Colonel M—— was going mad. He said the men were making their eyes bad, to prevent the Regiment going on service. One morning he said the next case should come under his own hand, the next man whose eyes should become bad should be locked up in the dead house for twenty four hours, his hand tied behind him and kept on bread and water, then if his eyes got better he would flog him, for it would then be evident that the men were making their eyes bad by applying something to them.


At this time my eyes were weak, but no sign of inflamation in them, so they had escaped the Colonel’s notice, but I was in continual fear least he would select me to try his new experiment on. It happened one night I was on Guard, there came on a heavy storm of thunder and lightening. It instantly struck my mind that by going to the Doctor and complain that the lightening had hurt my eyes, I should be a days march in front of the Colonel. Accordingly the next morning I saw Dr. Johnstone and told him my tale. He said my eyes were only weak, that a dose of salts would set them to rights. Thus far I had succeeded. The next morning, however, ‘Old Spunk’ (for that is one of the names he goes by) came down the ranks, made a dead halt in front of me (at this time my eyes were running with water, owing to the excessive heat of the sun, and its reflection from the shingles with which the Barrack Yard is covered). The Old Boy seized hold of my shoulder strap and began lugging me out of the ranks, shouting ‘I’ve got him, set a rogue to catch a rogue he’s sure to find him, I saw this fellow winking and blinking when I was in front of the Battallion, away with him to the dead house etc.’ As he was leading me along, I mentioned Dr. Johnstone’s name and that I had reported my eyes to him etc. He then called Dr. Reid, who was on parade. Dr. R—— said Johnstone had been speaking to him about me and confirmed what I had told the Colonel; he also said it was only weakness, increased from the reflection of the sun and said I had better be kept away from the Hospital etc. This so pleased the Colonel that he turned round and shouted ‘I was mistaken in this lad, he is the best soldier in the Corps, he has been to the Doctor, he has done as you all should do, he has put his shoulder to the wheel, etc., I will be kind to him, no more parades or drills till his eyes are well, he shall take his walks in the cooling shade. This and much more blarney took up his time a few minutes.


When I was ordered to fall in, I took up my place, and the Colonel went in search of another victim for the dead house. He shortly returned to me saying I must drink ‘Three ounces and a half of the bitter gall Epsom salts, and two hours knapsack drill in double quick time would open my back door, and when the back door was opened we could not err’—then calling the Serjeant of the Hospital, whom he ordered to mix up the dose. Some salts were brought to me in the ranks in a tin quart pot. As I was about to drink it he said ‘stop, come out six paces in the front to set an example.’ I was walking out carelessly, when I was ordered back again, to take six paces in Ordinary time for he observed when we were under arms everything must be done with double celerity. Out I marched with quart pot in one hand and firelock shouldered. When I had halted, I had to wait for the word to drink, for Colonel M—— never does anything by halves. He stood in front of me, putting his hand on his sword, shouted out ‘drink it up’—‘drink it up’—as often as he saw me swallow, the words ‘drink it up’ was repeated and the sword drawn an inch or two. When I had taken the cup from my mouth, the sword was plunged back into the scabbard, with this exclamation ‘You’re a lucky fellow, if you had not finished it before I had drawn my sabre, I would have cut you down.’ I gave the cup to the man who brought it from the hospital, he was swaggering away when some lumps at the bottom of the cup made a rattle. (The salts in use in Military hospitals at that time was very course, and a brownish colour.) The Colonel ran after him, kicked his seat of honor, seized the cup, shouting—‘set a rogue etc.’ He then rammed his hand into the cup, and took out what had not desolved, brought it to me and made me eat it, repeating ‘about opening the back door etc.’ I did not have the two hours drill, my eyes got better and Colonel M—— does not forget to take the whole credit to himself.




NO. 19. His Majesty’s Ship Revenge, Spithead. 9th. February, 1811.


[The course of the war in Spain and Portugal had undergone dramatic changes since the 51st had been evacuated from Corunna in January, 1809, along with the other remnants of Sir John Moore’s army. Three months later Sir Arthur Wellesley, the future Duke of Wellington, had landed at Lisbon with a force of 26,000 men, to back up the Portuguese. At that moment the much larger French armies in the Peninsula were widely dispersed—partly in trying to suppress the Spanish guerrillas, and partly as a sequel to Moore’s bold move against their communications.


By a sudden thrust northward, Wellesley drove Soult out of Portugal, and then, switching his small force back south, he advanced eastward to join Cuesta’s Spanish force, of similar size, in a march towards Madrid. Like Moore’s it was a hazardous move and nearly ran into a trap. Although he beat Marshal Victor at Talavera—and in reward become Viscount Wellington—he found himself in danger of being cut off by Soult’s descent upon his rear. He managed to withdraw into Portugal, but only after a circuitous and exhausting retreat.


The next year, 1810, Wellington’s danger multiplied. For Napoleon, having forced Austria to make peace, was free to concentrate his efforts on Spain and Portugal. Fortunately for Wellington, the incompetent Spanish regular forces were so thoroughly shattered that the French were encouraged to occupy the whole of Spain, with the result that the bulk of their forces became absorbed in trying to suppress the stubborn and skilful Spanish guerrillas. Only 65,000 out of the 300,000 French that Napoleon had assembled were allotted to Marshal Masséna for the purpose of driving the British out of Portugal.


Even so, Wellington was outnumbered. But he put a brake on Masséna’s advance by stripping the country of provisions, and fell back gradually to the Lines of Torres Vedras, covering Lisbon. It was not until mid-October, four months after the start of the advance, that Masséna came within sight of this barrier-line. Unable to force it, he was driven by hunger to withdraw a month later to Santarem, thirty miles back. Wellington, shrewdly, made no attempt to give battle, but sought to deprive his opponent of supplies. At the same time he kept in check Soult’s flank threat of advancing into Portugal from Badajoz, the southern gateway.


At last in March, 1811, Masséna had to go. When the starving remains of his army recrossed the frontier, it had lost nearly half of its original strength. It went back by the route it had come, the northern gateway through Almeida and Ciudad Rodrigo. By this time Wellington had received reinforcements from home, which included the 51st, and he was quick to follow up the enemy’s retreat.]





On the 22nd. January we embarked on board the Revenge (74). Headquarters and five companies. The Denmark (74), three companies, and the Vengure (74), two companies. The first thing that caught my eye on board, was the signal made by the immortal Nelson, when going into action at Trafalgar: ‘England expects every man to do his duty.’ This Motto appears across the afterpart of the quarter deck in large bold characters of gold. I am told that every ship that was with Nelson that day bears this distinguished honor as a memento of the glorious action. We are much more comfortable on board this ship then we were on board the l’Impetueux. Our lower deck guns are cleared out and we have only half the number of men on board. A large armament is assembled and our destination is Portugal to reinforce Lord Wellington’s army.


When on board the l’Impetueux I had formed a very unfavourable opinion of the Navy. A short time on board this ship has in a great measure corrected that opinion. The Captain goes by the name of ‘Father.’ Cursing and swearing is not allowed. The good feeling existing between the Captain and sailors was fully displayed last Sunday morning, when the ship’s company assembled for the Captain’s inspection. It was truly pleasing to see the good old man, their ‘Father’ as the men have justly named him, walking through the ranks of sailors, who all appeared as clean as possible, with health and contentment glowing on their faces. As he past the men he seemed to impart to each a portion of his own good nature.


After the sailors, our inspection came on. The good old man accompanied the Colonel through our ranks, his affectionate looks and smiles gained all our hearts. After inspection all hands were piped to church. The place set apart for Divine service is the quarter deck, which is sheltered from the wind or sun by hanging out different colours. This day the spirit of the fourth Commandment was put into force far beyond anything I could have expected, nothing was done but what was absolutely necessary, the sailors neat and clean employing themselves agreeable to the bent of their own inclinations. In one place might be seen a sailor sitting on a gun reading to his shipmates, others reading to themselves, in another place a party could be listening to the hair breadths escapes and wonderous deeds of some well fought battle, while others less careless would assemble in some sequestered spot, offering up prayers and singing Hymns of praise to their Creator and Redeemer. Amongst each party of sailors might be seen a good sprinkling of red jackets, this gave life to the scene. I viewed it with delight, and I might truly say I never passed a day in my life so completely happy.


OEBPS/xhtml/nav.xhtml




Contents





		Cover



		Praise for The Letters of Private Wheeler



		Title Page



		Map



		Contents



		Foreword by Captain B. H. Liddell Hart



		Preface by the author



		The Letters of Private Wheeler



		Appendices



		Copyright













		Cover



		Table of Contents









OEBPS/images/logo.jpg
WCEN

WEIDENFELD & NICOLSON





OEBPS/images/fm.jpg
e

o i i . s %
e 3 b ! 34 &
& Vi

3 ~:f‘;',A ¥ 4 : i
L ellers /i‘(’ v a Soldber s éé

¥

P

I ”f 2/ "7( ars JEIVe.,





OEBPS/images/cmn.jpg





OEBPS/images/9781474626118.jpg
AN EYEWITNESS IN ACTION AT THE
BATTLE OF WATERLOO






OEBPS/images/map.jpg
N
Military Travels

Private Wheeler
the 515t Battalion
ings Own Yorkshire

Light Infantry

S
@ /‘ﬁ-v)vmmz.mli)\"?\/'w A
< L AT
@ Lo Ny KINGDOM
@00 T e

Ol
4 ITALY
L .,
D)

anean Sea——

itel oo






